RECEIVED

Apr 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000914

THE STATEAPPELLANT,

v.

CASEY DOUGLASRESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

BARRY BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia St., 5th Floor, 5108
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 7, 2018, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury returned two true-billed indictments against Douglas for the brutal murders of Stephanie and Craig Jenkins, and possession of a knife during the commission of the crime. (R. p. *). Douglas was evaluated for competency to stand trial pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410. On June 22, 2019, after a hearing conducted pursuant to § 44-23-430, the circuit court found Douglas unfit to stand trial, but that it was likely his competency could be restored. Douglas' status remained largely the same after his 60-day hospitalization.¹ Douglas was returned to detention but then recommitted to Bryan Psychiatric Hospital. Since then, he has been periodically re-evaluated. *See generally* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-220 (“No person who is mentally ill or who has an intellectual disability shall be confined for safekeeping in any jail.”).

The basis of the State's appeal begins with proceedings occasioned by a Department of Mental Health (“the Department”)² petition based on its assertion that Douglas was still unfit for trial but no longer needed inpatient care. The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, held hearings on the petition on August 18, 2023, and November 22, 2024. The judge determined at the November hearing that Douglas was still not competent to stand trial. (Tr. 52, R. p. *, Order, at 2 n. 2). Judge Hayes subsequently issued a written order on November 26, 2024, allowing transfer to a non-secure facility for continued treatment. (R. p. *, Order, at 2-3). Both the Department and the State moved for reconsideration and both motions were denied. (R. p. *). This appeal follows.

¹ The statute was later amended to increase this initial restorative period to 180 days. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430.

² By legislative change effective April 28, 2025, the Department of Mental Health is now part of the Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities, as the “Office of Mental Health.” Because the statutory provisions discussed herein still have “Department of Mental Health” referenced, this brief will also use that same reference, or simply “the Department.”

RELEVANT FACTS

As noted, Douglas stands charged with two counts of murder and one count of possession of knife during the commission of the crime. The murders were committed on or about October 24, 2018. (*See* R. p. *, Indictments). Both victims, Stephanie and Craig Jenkins, were stabbed to death in their home. Stephanie had been Douglas's girlfriend; Craig was Stephanie's father. Douglas stayed on the front porch after the murders and confessed to his crimes. (Tr. 24, 26, 28, 30-31). Douglas has delusions about gang(s) out to get him and reported that he killed the Jenkins believing them to be "gangster," with the killings spurred on by his belief that the victims were in a conspiracy against him. (Tr. 22-24, 140; Aug. Tr. 36).

Douglas's competency to stand trial³ has been at issue and he has not yet been found competent to be tried. The Department has consistently found Douglas not competent. Douglas was initially evaluated on May 7, 2019. Based on that evaluation, on June 22, 2019, Douglas was found unfit to stand trial and referred for restorative treatment. (R. p.*). On November 5, 2019, he was admitted to inpatient treatment. (R. p. *). At the end of his 60-day treatment period, Petitioner, still incompetent, was returned to the detention center. (R. p. *). Douglas was admitted again to psychiatric hospital. (R. p. *). On January 7, 2022, Douglas was reassessed. After reassessment, the Department's examiner found Douglas understood the "charges and legal procedure," but, in the examiner's view, "lacked a rational appreciation of the proceedings and an ability to work with an attorney in forming a defense." (R. p. *). By petition filed in August 2021,

³ The test for determining competency to stand trial is [1] whether the defendant has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and [2] whether he has a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him." *State v. Weik*, 356 S.C. 76, 81, 587 S.E.2d 683, 685 (2002). *But see* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410 (A) (requiring evaluation when there is "reason to believe that a person ... lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense as a result of a lack of mental capacity").

the Department sought an order releasing Douglas from inpatient treatment under the provision of S.C. Code § 44-23-460. (R. p. *).

An initial hearing was held on August 18, 2023,⁴ before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, at which time the Department presented Dr. Matthew Gaskins. Dr. Gaskins opined that Douglas lacked the capacity to be found competent for trial. (Aug. Tr. 12, 26, 31-32). He explained that Douglas held a belief in “divine intervention” concerning the trial, and that belief in a favorable, “predetermined outcome” would interfere in participation. (Aug. Tr. 19). Further, Douglas insisted that his attorney base a defense on Douglas’s “delusions which can’t be done would interfere with the ability to work appropriately with his attorney.” (Aug. Tr. 19; *see also* Aug. Tr. 50-51). After multiple evaluations, Dr. Gaskin was of the opinion that capacity to be found competent “to stand trial was unlikely to be restored.” (Aug. Tr. 23).

On cross-examination by the State, Dr. Gaskins testified that Douglas understood his charges, and the facts alleged in support of the charges, along with “an excellent understanding” of the legal system and the role of the participants. (Aug. Tr. 25, 35). In fact, Douglas had pled guilty to armed robbery and burglary charges in the past. (Aug. Tr. 35). Dr. Gaskins agreed that he was aware Douglas has confessed and was “on the front porch at the house where the murders occurred.” (Aug. Tr. 24, 26, 28, 30-31). According to Dr. Gaskins, Douglas holds “fixed false belief[s]” or delusions that cannot be changed with confrontation of evidence to the contrary and those beliefs interfere with his ability to assist in his defense. (Aug. Tr. 37-38).

On cross-examination by defense counsel, Dr. Gaskins agreed that Douglas’s delusions prevent Douglas from assisting in his defense. (Aug. Tr. 42-43). At the completion of this

⁴ The State recognized the delay in securing a hearing on the petition and noted at the conclusion of the August hearing that no one was at fault; there were simply scheduling difficulties for Dr. Gaskins. (*See* Aug. Tr. 52-53).

testimony, Judge Hayes allowed a short continuance for the State to complete some preparations based on late received information. (Aug. Tr. 52).

The remainder of the hearing was held on November 22, 2024. Counsel for the Department set out its position that Douglas was not competent to be tried. (Tr. 6-7).⁵ Further, counsel advised that the Department had determined that “Mr. Douglas [was] ready to integrate into a supervised but outpatient area.” (Tr. 7, lines 23-24). In support of that position, the Department again presented Dr. Matthew Gaskins. Dr. Gaskins, largely following his prior testimony, testified that he had conducted several evaluations of Douglas, and in his opinion Douglas

...continued to lack capacity to stand trial due to the presence of persistent persecutory, hyper-religious and frank - - a bit bizarre delusions that he wished to apply to the defense of his case.

(Tr. 12, lines 5-9). Dr. Gaskins examined Douglas again, on October 9, 2024, in anticipation of the hearing and his opinion remained consistent. (Tr. 12; see also R. p. *). Dr. Gaskins opined the lack of competency stemmed from

The presence of symptoms of schizophrenia that have been difficult to control despite three years or more inpatient treatment with psychiatrists including the use of long acting injectable antipsychotics, which are medicines that, as the name implies, are injected once a month or once every couple of months to ensure compliance so we know that the patient is taking it ... [and]... despite him continuously receiving medicines ... he’s continued to have ... delusional thinking related to his schizophrenia.

(Tr. 12-13).

Dr. Gaskin opined that Douglas’s “delusions are persecutory in nature,” a “battle between good and evil” is afoot, and that “he is on the side of good[.]” Further, he believes that his defense

⁵ Defense counsel for Douglas was present but deferred to the Department during the November proceedings. (Tr. 9). Defense counsel specifically agreed on the record with the Department’s finding that Douglas “remain[ed] not competent to stand trial.” (Tr. 9, lines 21-22).

should be based on explaining the battle and that counsel could present evidence to show the “delusional beliefs to be accurate.” (Tr. 14, line 7). Douglas also believes there are “videos of the alleged incidents” being kept from him. (Tr. 14, lines 11-13). Dr. Gaskins opined that he did not believe Douglas could be restored to competency “in the foreseeable future.” (Tr. 14-15).

On cross-examination by the State, Dr. Gaskins testified that Douglas “is still actively experiencing delusions and occasional hallucinations.” (Tr. 17, lines 17-19). However, he agreed that Douglas “basically ... knows the difference between right and wrong,” and has an “excellent understanding” of the criminal justice system. (Tr. 18, lines 7-18). The doctor confirmed again that Douglas is delusional and disagrees with “his defensive strategy.” (Tr. 20, line 2 – p. 21, line 6). The doctor also confirmed that Douglas’s delusions –i.e., struggle between good and evil and conspiracy – figured into his belief that the murder victims were “against him too[.]” (Tr. 27, lines 6-14).

The State called Dr. Robert Nelson, a qualified forensic psychologist. (Tr. 36). Dr. Nelson reviewed the prior reports regarding competency, and stated, in his opinion, there were key limitations to the Department’s conclusions:

... looking back at all of the different assessments that have been done, the one that stood out to me as concerning was there was a period of time where the was found able to be restored, and the most recent report suggests that that is no longer the case.

...my concern would be if there is some remediation that could be done as part of the restoration that would make him capable of participating in his defense. That is what the - - that is what he prefers. But it also would be - - it would also be useful for us to understand the nature of the crimes.

(Tr. 37, line 15-p. 38 line 1).

Dr. Nelson further testified:

Going back a, a few periods now, initially the reports of his delusional thought process were related to religious issues and I made a differentiation, based on my training, of the difference between bizarre versus non-bizarre delusions. And, initially, most of his delusions that I was reading and was reported to me or that I was reading were of the non-bizarre, non-bizarre nature.

...

The belief in God, the belief in hearing from the Holy Spirit, the belief that if God chose to send a message to the judge that, you know, or that would - - the Holy Spirit would be present with him during this process. Those are perhaps delusional but they're not bizarre delusions.

(Tr. 38, lines 6-21).

Dr. Nelson testified that the concept of being "recorded by ... gangs" and the like are not in the bizarre delusion category, explaining further that

The difference, in my training, between delusional - - bizarre delusions and non-bizarre delusions is non-bizarre delusions may not be present but they can happen. Give you the example, you know, the FBI is following me and tapping my phone. We all know they're not but, but they can.

(Tr. 39, lines 1-6).

Dr. Nelson testified that the most recent "threat assessment" indicated a worsen of condition with "more of what would be considered bizarre delusions," though Douglas had not been given specific testing to rule out malingering. (Tr. p. 40, line 20 – p. 42, line 3; *see also* Tr. 50). Dr. Nelson testified to the inconsistent arc of the presentation from the treatment: "The concern I have is it looks like, over the course of his treatment there, he got better and then got worse and , and I'm ... wondering ... what the precursor to that was or ... how that fits to a prognosis... for future outcome." (Tr. 42, lines 9-13). Dr. Nelson clarified that he had not evaluated Douglas for competency but would do so if the court entered an appropriate order. (Tr. 42, 49, 50).

At the conclusion of this portion of the testimony, Judge Hayes ruled: “Based upon the information that’s been received by the Court, I can make that finding that he is not competent to stand trial.” (Tr. 52, lines 3-5). The hearing continued then into risk assessment.

The Department presented Dr. Jennifer Alleyne, who supervised the nurse practitioners providing care to Douglas at the inpatient facility. (Tr. 54). The doctor described Douglas’s progression:

When he was admitted, he was experiencing visual and auditory hallucinations. He had religious preoccupations as well as paranoid delusional beliefs. I would say, at this point in time, he’s demonstrated significant improvement in those symptoms.

He experienced - - does not experience visual hallucinations currently. He experiences auditory hallucinations a few days per week and his delusional beliefs do not predominate his thought process anymore. He’s got a better understanding of his symptoms and I would classify them as controlled at this point in time.

(Tr. 57, lines 2-12).

The doctor confirmed that no “negative symptoms” were noted currently. (Tr. 58, lines 1-9). Further, Douglas was on medication and the doctor noted, while he would occasionally refuse a dose of oral medication, Douglas was overall “medically compliant.” (Tr. 58, line 10-p. 59, line 20). Douglas also has other therapy and has gained “insight into his mental illness.” (Tr. 60, line 13 – p. 61, line 14). Douglas was then “co-facilitating a [therapeutic] group” in another part of the facility and “he is able to engage in thoughtful discussion with his treatment provider about his symptoms and the recovery process.” (Tr. 61, lines 15-23). Dr. Alleyne testified that Douglas “had to, with his peer that he is leading this group with, come up with a set of groups to teach, what the common goal for the groups would be, and then he chooses the content - - the two of them together choose the content of what they are going to teach in group each week” all of which “absolutely” demonstrates “good insight[.]” (Tr. 62, lines 1-10). Dr. Alleyne confirmed that

Douglas has “more positive” auditory hallucinations described as prompts to “be mindful, be watchful that people are - - might have, have his best interests at heart and that he should be, you know, keeping an eye out for what other people’s ill will toward him could be.” (Tr. 62, line 19-p. 63, line 1). The doctor opined that auditory hallucinations did not require hospitalization for treatment, that they could not be cured, and acknowledged that one can act on auditory hallucinations at any time. (Tr. 63, lines 2-17). She opined that he was not “likely to be a danger to himself or others due to his mental illness if he were to continue a similar medical regime” as he was then currently prescribed. (Tr. 65, lines 1-4). The doctor added that

So, Mr. Douglas is, is a very intelligent man, for lack of a better way to say it, and he uses the information that he has learned ... during his hospital stay in his interactions with the treatment team.

...
... he understands that ... these voices are a product of mental illness and that the medications help decrease the frequency and intensity of the voices and he’s able to express that very clearly when you talk to him about his symptoms.

(Tr. 68, line 18 – p. 69, line 6).

She had noted no documented concerns about malingering. (Tr. 70). Dr. Alleyne opined that he had “likely maximized his benefit from hospitalization” though he should continue treatment in a “less restrictive” setting. (Tr. 70, lines 11-19).

On cross-examination, Dr. Alleyne agreed that certain delusions could “set off” violent incidents, but voiced a concern that “you can’t keep a person in a hospital against the law because you are concerned about what he may do because he’s not acting on that part. You’re currently trying to treat him in the least restrictive environment, which would not be in a psychiatric - - locked psychiatric facility.” (Tr. 76, line 23-p. 77, line 6). She noted though that he had two altercations with patients without any reference to delusions causing the conflict. (Tr. 76, 82-83).

On redirect the doctor opined that his discussions about his delusions “is, to [her], a testament to Mr. Douglas’ stability that he is able to discuss his delusional beliefs and discusses them openly.” (Tr. 84).

The Department next called forensic psychiatrist, Dr. Richard Frierson. (Tr. 87). Dr. Frierson conducted a violence risk assessment at the Department’s request in considering whether Douglas “could be discharged to a community residential care facility.” (Tr. 87, line 25 – p. 88, line 4). Dr. Frierson opined that

Mr. Douglas’ insight into what he needs to do to remain outside of a hospital, should he be released, is quite good.

Like a lot of patients with schizophrenia, he has some ambivalence to the actual diagnosis. But he does believe, because the medication has got rid of the visual hallucinations, the medication is substantially improved his auditory hallucinations to the point that he’s only experiencing very briefly three times a week and they don’t bother him that it’s likely that he has some underlying condition that is being benefitted by the medication.

(Tr. 95, lines 9-20).

Dr. Frierson opined that Douglas’ then-present condition did not require hospitalization. (Tr. 98). He also opined that, even with his history of violence and “other antisocial behavior” among other factors, he has improved to include lessened auditory hallucinations, has complied with his treatment, “has developed coping skills[,]” and even had the ability for input into his choice of residence placement. (Tr. 101, line 1 – p. 102, line 23). The doctor noted in discussing his opinion that Douglas should be involved in choice of “discharge placement” that “Mr. Douglas is smart. ... he has a, a fairly high intelligence compared to a lot of our patients.” (Tr. 104, line 20 – p. 105, lines 3). Dr. Frierson explained further

And so, I think he needs to be placed in a community residential care facility that has other relatively higher functioning patients. Otherwise there’s not gonna be anybody for him to interact

with, to have meaningful, engaged conversations about a variety of topics, that, you know, more intelligent people might want to talk about.

(Tr. 105, lines 4-9).

Dr. Frierson did believe, however, that any release should be monitored. (Tr. 106). The Department asked Dr. Frierson whether residential care facility “with outpatient treatment, constitutes the least restrictive means by which Mr. Douglas can be treated,” to which he responded, “Yes.” (Tr. 106, lines 19-24).

On cross-examination, Dr. Frierson explained that he did not conduct a competency evaluation and could neither “agree or disagree with Doctor Gaskins competency assessment.” (Tr. 110, lines 1-3). Moreover, the doctor confirmed that Douglas has not had command hallucinations “in the past two years.” (Tr. 112, lines 15-18).

The State called forensic psychiatrist Dr. Donna Maddox. (Tr. 115). Dr. Maddox opined about threat assessment. (Tr. 116-117). In forming her opinion, Dr. Maddox spoke with Douglas who she found was “cooperative” and “very forthcoming.” (Tr. 117, lines 19-22). The doctor testified that Douglas “has benefited from treatment” but was experiencing “active symptoms she believed “could get better.” (Tr. 117, line 24-p. 118, line 1; *see also* Tr. 118, lines 21-25, “the simplest thing to do is continue treating him and I saw that there’s room for improvement of his symptoms.”). Dr. Maddox testified that due to Douglas’ known “triggers” prompting paranoia, especially with use of social media, she was concerned a new location, where cellphone or media use could not be limited, could trigger paranoia tied to his delusions. (Tr. 118-119; *see also* Tr. 120-121, 131 and 133).⁶ She also opined a change of psychiatrist would be detrimental, noting

⁶ Dr. Maddox explained that Douglas had tried living in a county environment before to potentially avoid stressors, but even that his issues were still intrusive, “it kind of crept up on him.” (Tr. 121, lines 6-10; 125, lines 15-18).

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