RECEIVED

Aug 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

CASEY DOUGLAS,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2025-000914

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

I. An order granting pre-trial release under specific terms and conditions of an accused who is incompetent to stand trial under the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410, which does not dismiss or terminate the underlying criminal charges is not immediately appealable.

The order allowing Respondent's outpatient treatment under specific terms and conditions is analogous to an order granting limited release of an accused from confinement in a detention center pre-trial with stringent conditions. The nature of this pre-trial release as a form of bond is set forth in the statutory framework:

If the pending charge is a violent crime, a hearing must be held by the court in which the charges are pending, prior to release, on the issue of whether the person shall be released on bond with terms and conditions appropriate for the safety of the community and the wellbeing of the person.

S.C. Code §44-23-430(C).

As with any other such order granting bond, this pre-trial release may be revisited by the Court of General Sessions based upon violation of the terms or a change in circumstance. The Order places fourteen conditions on the release of Respondent to out-patient care. R. * (Order dated Nov. 26, 2024, p. 4-5). The Order specifically notes that failure to comply with the conditions will result in a violation and appropriate court action:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in the event Mr. Douglas does not comply with the provisions of this Order requiring him to comply with the program of treatment developed by the Aiken-Barnwell Mental Health Center or monitoring by the Forensic Outreach Clinic, or in the event that Mr. Douglas is unable to reside at Generations of Monetta CRCF, it will be a violation of this Order and upon written certification of such noncompliance by the Aiken-Barnwell Mental Health Center or Forensic Outreach Clinic stating that Mr. Douglas is in apparent violation of the conditions of this Order, the Sheriff of Aiken County, or other

Sheriff if Mr. Douglas is present in a different county than Aiken, is hereby required to immediately transport Mr. Douglas to the Spartanburg County Detention Center-pending a hearing.

R. * (Order dated Nov. 26, 2024, p. 6).

Orders concerning competency of this nature are not subject to immediate appeal to this Court. *See State v. Dingle*, 279 S.C. 278, 282, 306 S.E.2d 223, 225 (1983)⁷ ("We hold that the order is interlocutory in nature and thus not appealable. Since the order is not appealable until final judgment is rendered, the trial court had continuing jurisdiction over the subject matter of the case."). They are, in effect, the equivalent of an order granting or denying bond pre-trial which has been deemed likewise interlocutory and not immediately appealable. *See Parsons v. State*, 289 S.C. 542, 347 S.E.2d 504 (1986) (holding an order denying bail was not directly appealable). Moreover, by its nature the order is interlocutory order since Respondent has not been convicted and sentenced nor have the underlying criminal charges been dismissed.⁸ *See State v. Rearick*, 417 S.C. 391, 790 S.E.2d 192 (2016) (even a motion denying double jeopardy grounds is interlocutory and not appealable unless and until the defendant is convicted and sentenced in violation of his Constitutional protection against being subjected to double jeopardy). "Any judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final." *Ex parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 12, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005).

Here, Respondent is still subject to criminal charges since the indictments have not been dismissed by the lower court. As argued in Argument 3, *infra*, the statutory scheme dictates that, should Respondent be deemed competent to stand trial during additional proceedings, the

⁷ The treatment of the plain view doctrine in *State v. Dingle* was abrogated by *Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128 (1990) in terms of the inadvertence element of the plain view exception.

⁸ Appellant's argument that the statute requires such action by the lower court under the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 (2) and (3) are addressed in Argument 3, *infra*.

underlying charges would proceed to trial. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-450 ("A finding of unfitness to stand trial under Section 44-23-430 may be reexamined by the court upon its own motion, *or that of the prosecuting attorney*, the person found unfit to stand trial, his legal guardian, or his counsel.") (emphasis added).

Since the underlying order is by its very nature interlocutory and the State has been granted the ability by statute to revisit Respondent's competency to stand trial *regularly* by S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-450, the present appeal should be dismissed under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330. Respondent would note the underlying order does not determine "the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action" under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(a). To the contrary, a finding of incompetence to stand trial under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410, without a dismissal of the underlying criminal charges under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460, is interlocutory in nature and does not prevent a judgment from being rendered. *See State v. Dingle*, 279 S.C. 278, 306 S.E.2d 223 (1983).

II. The State failed to argue the scope of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 prohibited the lower court from ordering out-patient care of Respondent outside a secure facility under specific terms and conditions and has raised this argument for the first time on appeal.

The State's argument that the Order was outside the scope of the power of the lower court under the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 was not presented to or ruled upon by the lower court. At the underlying trial, the State's argument centered on the wisdom of allowing out-patient versus hospitalized care and treatment of Respondent. To that end, the State called several risk assessment experts to opine on the dangers Respondent could pose to others should he be released from a secure facility. As to Respondent's underlying competency, the State's lone expert who interviewed Respondent was Dr. Donna Maddox.⁹ Dr. Maddox did not opine Respondent was competent. Instead, Dr. Maddox opined that additional treatment options were available that may improve Respondent's mental illness further and that restoration was still a viable path. Nov. Tr. 128, ll. 10 – 129, l. 21. At no point during the hearing, or in the State's Motion to Reconsider, did the State suggest the absence of a ruling specifically addressing the status of the pending criminal charges under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460(2) or (3) would nullify the lower court's Order. This novel theory is being presented for the first time on appeal.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). "Imposing such a requirement on the appellant 'is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.'" Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (*citing* I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d

⁹ Dr. Maddox was qualified as an expert in forensic psychiatry. Nov. Tr. 116, ll. 19 – 24.

716, 724 (2000)). "Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal." Herron, 395 S.C. at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642. By extension, the same applies to the State's argument regarding the interplay between S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460(2) and (3) and the validity of the trial court's Order.

Here, the lower court's Order does not address the alleged limitation that S.C. Code § 44-23-460 places on release to outpatient status under conditions authorized by S.C. Code § 44-23-430 for a simple reason. This argument was never presented to the lower court and never ruled upon.

III. The provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 and S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430 work in concert and allow criminal charges to remain while an individual deemed incompetent to stand trial under the terms of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-410 receives outpatient treatment under terms and conditions that equate to release on bond.

The State would have this Court read S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 in isolation and completely distinct from the rest of Title 44, Article 5 concerning fitness to stand trial (§ 44-23-410 to § 44-23-460). Under the State's view of the statute, once a person against whom criminal charges are pending no longer requires hospitalization, then the lower court is restricted by statute to either dismiss and release the accused if they had been "hospitalized for a period of time exceeding the maximum possible period of imprisonment to which the person could have been sentenced if convicted as charged" or to "order that criminal proceedings against a person who has been found fit to stand trial be resumed, or the court may dismiss criminal charges and order the person released if so much time has elapsed that prosecution would not be in the interest of justice." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 (2) and (3).

As the State interprets the statutory scheme, a ruling under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 precludes an allowance for the criminal proceedings to resume while granting release under the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430.

"Thus, to be true to the statute, the court had only one option based on its findings of facts—to release Douglas from the hospital and require his transfer to the Spartanburg County Detention Center. There is no provision under S.C. Code § 44-23-460, to order continued treatment and/or care in an unsecure facility. Thus, the circuit court had no authority under the statute to allow a step-down transfer to a non-secure facility."

(State's Brief, p. 21). The State argues, for the first time on appeal, that the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 preclude a release from hospitalization under the provisions of S.C. Code § 44-23-430 that leaves the criminal charges in place. However, the State's restrictive reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 does not follow from the statutory scheme as a whole. *See State v. Sweet*, 446 S.C. 356, 919 S.E.2d 909 (2025) (holding that Courts should not focus merely on the language of a clause being construed, but read such clause in connection with the whole statute).

Here, the State ignores the impact of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460(3) and the provision allowing the Court to order release from hospitalization while the criminal proceedings resume. By the State's reading of this provision, "criminal proceedings" equates to a transfer to a pre-trial detention center. To the contrary, "criminal proceedings" is an exceptionally broad term, and clearly would be incorporated into the statutory scheme governing an accused who is incompetent to stand trial. Thus, "criminal proceedings" would include the provisions of S.C. Code § 44-23-430. Rather than some inescapable loop alleged by the State between an incompetency designation, hospitalization, then recommendation for release while still incompetent starting the loop over again (State's Brief note 11), the statutory scheme covers

criminal proceedings continuing against an incompetent individual outside the need for hospitalization.

This scenario is specifically covered by S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430(C), which covers persons "against whom criminal charges are pending but who are not involuntarily committed following judicial admission proceedings . . ." Here, following a judicial proceeding on Respondent's continued involuntary hospitalization, the lower court had the option, following a hearing, "on the issue of whether the person shall be released *on bond* with terms and conditions appropriate for the safety of the community and the well-being of the person." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430(C) (emphasis added).¹⁰

Here, the resumption of "criminal proceedings" under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460(3) simply allows for the provisions of a bond to be implemented under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430(C). Since the Legislature has already specially authorized the release on bond of an accused deemed incompetent to stand trial for a violent offense upon an appropriate judicial determination and under appropriate conditions, there is no need to speculate that the Legislature could not have intended this very result. Here, there is no statutory mandate that once a hearing is conducted on the potential release from hospitalization under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 the lower courts are without the power to incorporate the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430(C) in placing an accused in a bond setting while preserving the underlying criminal charges.¹¹

¹⁰ As noted in Argument 1, *supra*, bond hearing of this nature are not immediately appealable.

¹¹ As the State now argues on Appeal, it should have moved for reconsideration and requested a specific ruling on the dismissal of the underlying criminal charges since, according to its restrictive reading of the statutory scheme, the lower court's only option in this case was outright dismissal since Respondent was incompetent to stand trial and was no longer required to be hospitalized.

Nothing in the lower court's Order is nullified by a proper reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 and S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430(C). As is common with statutory schemes, the two provisions work in concert and not as opposing forces. In an effort to find error, the State would force this Court to read the statutory scheme with an eye towards finding conflict, rather than read the statutes in harmony. Such a reading is unnecessary by the express terms used in the statutory scheme and would be against the cardinal rules of statutory construction. *See State ex rel. McLeod v. Nessler*, 273 S.C. 371, 373, 256 S.E.2d 419, 420 (1979) ("In determining the meaning of a statute, it is the duty of this Court to give force and effect to all parts of the statute, if possible.").

The State would read *Wilson v. State*, 315 S.C. 158, 432 S.E.2d 477 (1993) as somehow supporting its limited reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460. Read properly, *Wilson* involves the alleged interaction between an emergency commitment under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-410 through the Probate Court and "Title 44, Chapter 23, Article 5, Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976) addresses fitness of persons charged in criminal proceedings to stand trial." *Wilson*, 315 S.C. at 162, 432 S.E.2d at 479. A person committed through Chapter 23, *Article 3* would in fact fall under the provision of Section 44-23-460 "after the South Carolina Department of Mental Health acquires jurisdiction of such person"¹² *Wilson*, 315 S.C. at 162, 432 S.E.2d at 479. Rather than interpret or dictate the interaction between S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430 and S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460, as implied by the State, *Wilson* simply acknowledges the PCR applicant's "hospitalization and subsequent out-patient treatment were not the result of a determination that he was unfit to stand trial. When considered within the framework of Chapter 23 in its entirety, we construe Section 44-23-460 to be inapplicable to petitioner." *Wilson*, 315

¹² For example, under Article 3, "No person who is mentally ill or who has an intellectual disability shall be confined for safekeeping in any jail." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-220.

S.C. at 163, 432 S.E.2d at 480. In no way does Wilson divorce S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-460 to be read outside of the remaining provisions of Title 44, Chapter 23, Article 5.

IV. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in making factual findings supported by multiple expert witnesses, including those called by the opposing party, authorizing outpatient care of an accused found incompetent to stand trial rather than requiring hospitalization under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-23-430.

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